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I. INTRODUCTION 

 Over the objections of the Transport Workers Union of America  (“TWU” or “Union”), American 

Airlines (“American” or  “Company”) has implemented a program of non-cause based  drug testing of 

American Fleet Service employees, although there is no authority or support in the parties’ collective 

bargaining agreement for non-cause drug testing. Furthermore, drug testing under the new program is 

being done without compliance with agreed rules and procedures applicable to employees who are subject 

to drug testing. American’s actions constitute a unilateral change of the parties’ collective bargaining 

agreement in violation of Section 2 Seventh of the Railway Labor Act (“RLA), 45 U.S.C. §152 Seventh, 

which prohibits changes in rates of pay, rules and working conditions embodied in agreements except by 

agreement, or in accordance with the notice and negotiation processes of Section 6 of the RLA, 45 U.S.C. 

§156. 

 Because American’s actions constitute effective abrogation of its agreement with TWU, the 

Union seeks a preliminary injunction for enforcement of Section 2 Seventh. Since the RLA contains its 

own mandate for maintenance of the “status quo”, the Court has jurisdiction to grant such an injunction 

“without the customary showing of irreparable injury”. Consolidated Rail Corp. v. RLEA, 491 U.S. 299, 

302-303 (1989)(“Conrail”). 

II. FACTS 

           The facts in this case are set forth in detail the declaration of Mike Mayes. The key facts are 

summarized below.  

A. THE PARTIES AND THE AGREEMENT 

 TWU and American are parties to a collective bargaining agreement (“CBA”) that governs the 

rates of pay, rules and working conditions of American’s Fleet Service employees who perform various 

functions related to transportation of cargo, baggage and freight. Mayes Declaration ¶¶2-3.  

 While certain aviation employees are required by federal law or federal Department of 

Transportation regulations to submit to random or regular drug tests, no federal law or regulation requires 

Fleet Service employees to submit to drug tests. Mayes Declaration ¶4.  Article 29 of the CBA provides 
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for drug tests of Fleet Service employees in situations when there is “reasonable cause” for doing so, or 

after an accident.  Mayes Declaration ¶5 and Mayes Exhibit 1.  Additionally, the Company drug and 

alcohol testing policy provides for drug testing of Fleet Service employees when the Company has 

reasonable cause to believe that an employee is in violation of Company Rules that generally prohibit use 

or possession of intoxicants while at work. Mayes Declaration ¶¶6-7 and Mayes Exhibits 2 and 3.  Under 

the CBA, established practice, and the Company’s drug and alcohol testing policy, the only recognized 

grounds for drug testing Fleet Service employees, are when there is “reasonable cause” to believe there 

has been a violation of Company Rules regarding possession and use of intoxicants, or after an accident.  

 When a Fleet Service employee is required to take a “reasonable cause or post-accident” drug 

test, the CBA provides that the employee may have a Union representative present. Additionally, the 

Company’s drug and alcohol testing policy recognizes certain employee rights and establishes certain 

procedures to be followed for drug testing. Mayes Declaration ¶¶8-11 and Mayes Exhibits 1 and 2. 

B. EVENTS GIVING RISE TO THIS DISPUTE   

 American says that it is drug testing Fleet Service employees in the absence of either “reasonable 

cause”, or an accident, because it is demanded by the United States Postal Service (“USPS” or “Postal 

Service”) under the Company’s contract with the USPS, and because it is supposedly required by laws 

relied on by the USPS.  Mayes Declaration ¶¶11-12 and Mayes Exhibit 4.   

 The Union requested that American identify any law or regulation on which the Company relied 

in asserting that drug testing of Fleet Service employees is required by law.  American responded by 

citing USPS forms and booklets that cite statutory provisions that authorize the USPS to ask for drug tests 

and other information from USPS contractors and contractor employees who handle mail; and USPS 

documents for contractors that inform contractors that the USPS requires that contractor employees who 

handle mail to be drug tested. Mayes Declaration ¶¶13-15.  Additionally, although American has cited the 

USPS demands for drug testing of employees who handle mail, American has been drug testing Fleet 

Service employees who are not involved in handling mail. Mayes Declaration ¶16.  
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 On November 2, 2018, TWU wrote to American asserting that the Company has no basis in law 

or the CBA for drug testing Fleet Service employees; and no basis in the CBA for drug testing Fleet 

Service employees without compliance with the rights and procedures established by the CBA and by the 

Company’s drug and alcohol testing policy. TWU further asserted that drug testing of Fleet Service 

employees generally, and drug testing of Fleet Service employees without compliance with the CBA or 

American’s own drug testing policies and procedures, both constituted unilateral changes of the CBA in 

violation of the RLA; TWU called on American to cease the drug testing. Mayes Declaration ¶17, Mayes  

Exhibit 5. American responded on November 16, 2018 claiming that the CBA does not prohibit or restrict 

drug testing of Fleet Service employees, and that the drug testing is purportedly within the Company’s 

unilateral authority. The Company reiterated its position that the testing is required by the Postal Service, 

and stated that American would continue its drug testing of fleet service employees.  Mayes Declaration 

¶18 and Mayes Exhibit 6.  

III. APPLICABLE LAW 

A. THE RAILWAY LABOR ACT 

1.  The RLA’s “Status Quo” Requirement and Its Processes For Resolution of Disputes 

 RLA Section 2 Seventh prohibits changes in the rates of pay, rules and working conditions of 

employees “as a class, as embodied in agreements” without compliance with the notice and negotiation 

provisions of RLA Section 6. Section 2 Seventh forbids unilateral changes in existing agreements, and 

actions that would constitute repudiation of an agreement. Conrail, 491 U.S. at 306. In International 

Brotherhood of Teamsters v North American Airlines, 518 F. 3d at 1052, 1056 (9th Cir 2008) the Ninth 

Circuit stated, “Section 2 Seventh precludes the parties from making unilateral changes in working 

conditions ‘embodied in agreements’ except as provided in such agreements or through the process 

described in section 6....”. The Supreme Court has described the “status quo” provisions of the Act as  

“‘central to its design’”; the Court said that their “immediate effect is to prevent the Union from striking 

and management from doing anything that would justify a strike.” Detroit and Toledo Shore Line 

Railroad v. United Transp. Union,  396 U.S. 142, 150 (1969). 
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 Disputes over changes in existing agreements, or creation of new agreements are called "major 

disputes." Conrail, 491 U.S. at 302.  Brotherhood of Locomotive Engineers and Trainmen v. Union 

Pacific R. R. Co., 879 F. 3d 754, 757 (7th Cir. 2017)– “major disputes pertain to creation of new contracts 

affecting any mandatory subject of bargaining or modifications of existing contracts that have the same 

effect.” See also Ass’n of Flight Attendants v. Mesa Air Group, 567 F. 3d 1043, 1047 (9th Cir. 2009)–

“Major disputes generally result from attempts by labor or management to impose new obligations or 

create new rights”; and Wheeling & Lake Erie Ry. Co. v. B’hood of Locomotive Engineers and Trainmen, 

789 F. 3d 681, 692 (6th Cir. 2015) (“Wheeling”). 

 Because refusal to maintain the status quo undermines the principal mechanism for achieving the 

goals of the Act, the federal courts have jurisdiction to enjoin unilateral changes. Conrail at 303, citing  

Shore Line; BLET v. Union Pacific, 879 F. 3d at 757. Moreover, such an injunction may issue without a 

showing of irreparable harm. Conrail at 303, citing  Shore Line, and Division No. 1 Detroit Brotherhood 

of Locomotive Engineers v. Consolidated Rail Corp., 844 F. 2d 1218 (6th Cir. 1988).  See also Wheeling, 

789 F. 3d at 691  

 Disputes that do not involve creation of new agreements or changes in pre-existing rates of pay, 

rules and working conditions, but rather involve interpretation or application of existing agreements, are 

called “minor disputes” and they are subject to compulsory and binding arbitration under RLA Section 3 

(45 U.S.C. §153). Conrail, 491 U.S. at 304; BLET v. Union Pacific, 879 F. 3d at 758; International 

Brotherhood of Teamsters, Airline Division v. Allegiant Air, 788 F. 3d 1080,1086 (9th Cir. 2014); 

Wheeling 789 F. 3d at 691.  

2. The Method For Distinguishing Between Major Disputes And Minor Disputes 

  When a union asserts that a carrier has violated the RLA, and the carrier responds that its actions 

are permissible under the collective bargaining agreement so the dispute is “minor”, a court may not 

accept the carrier’s contractual defense at face value; “proper functioning of the statutory scheme requires 

the court to substitute its characterization for that of the claimant”. Conrail, 491 U.S. at 305-307. It is not 

enough that a dispute over the carrier’s actions arises from its interpretation of existing agreements. The 
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carrier has the burden of establishing that its claim is based on an interpretation of the terms of the 

agreement that is not frivolous, obviously insubstantial, insincere or made in bad faith; that its position is 

at least “arguably justified by the terms of the parties’ collective bargaining agreement”. Conrail, 491 

U.S. at 307, 310; Wheeling, 789 F. 3d at 692--a court must reject a minor dispute defense“[i]f a party 

asserts a contractual basis for a claim without sincerity or on insubstantial grounds”. Although the burden 

on the carrier to demonstrate a minor dispute is “relatively light”, the carrier must satisfy this burden in 

order to establish that a dispute is minor. Conrail, 491 U.S. at 307; Wheeling, 789 F. 3d at 697- “The 

Railroad failed to carry its burden to show that its position was arguably justified by the terms of the 

parties’ collective bargaining agreement”. 

 Thus, it is not enough that the carrier’s action is arguably justified or non-frivolous in the abstract 

(e.g. that the action seems objectively reasonable, operationally sound, or wise policy), the action has to 

be arguably justified under the terms of the agreement; and the contract claim has to be sincere and not 

made in bad faith. BLET v. Union Pacific, 879 F. 3d at 758–while the burden on the railroad is low, it 

must carry that burden to prevail on a minor dispute defense. See also Brotherhood of Maintenance of 

Way Employees v. Atchison Topeka & Santa Fe Ry., 138 F. 3d 635, 642 (7th Cir. 1998). In that decision, 

an en banc Seventh Circuit rejected an argument that a court must “...ask what an arbitrator might do. If 

an arbitrator might rule for the railroads, then that’s it– the dispute is minor and it must go to arbitration”. 

Rather, the Court stated,  “... mimicking arbitrators is not what Congress commanded us to do. Congress 

has committed the classification of RLA disputes to federal judges, not to arbitrators; we have not warrant 

to cede that commission de facto”. Id. at 642 

 A carrier may assert a minor dispute based on its interpretation of an implied agreement derived 

from past practice. But, in order to do so, the carrier must first show a past practice that establishes an 

implied agreement, then it must show that its interpretation of that agreement is arguably justified by its 

terms. Conrail 491 U.S. at 310. Thus, in Conrail, the Supreme Court first determined that there was a past 

practice of requiring medical examinations of employees and that such examinations “routinely include 

urinalysis”, before holding that a dispute over urinalysis drug testing was a minor dispute. Id. at 312-316.   
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The Conrail Court found that there was an implied agreement arguably permitting urinalysis drug testing 

only after recounting evidence of a longstanding past practice over many years (since Conrail’s 

founding), involving many employees, under which employees were subjected to physical examinations 

that “routinely include[d] urinalysis”, and were subject to urinalysis drug testing when drug use was 

suspected and on return to service after removal from service for drug use. Only after it defined the 

parameters of the practice, and thus the scope of the implied agreement, did the Court decide whether the 

dispute over additional urinalysis drug testing was a minor dispute. Id. at 312-317.   

 To demonstrate that there is an implied agreement that may arguably be interpreted as the carrier 

contends, the carrier must show more than mere prior similar actions; it must show an established a 

pattern of conduct and a joint understanding shown by mutual intent and knowledge of, and acquiescence 

in, prior acts, over a sufficient period of time that it becomes an agreement. Id.; Shore Line.  396 U.S. at 

150.  In  United Transp. Union Local Lodge No. 31 v. St. Paul Union Depot Co., 434 F.2d 222, 223 (8th 

Cir. 1970), the Eighth Circuit said that a party claiming -- “[a]n ‘established practice’ under the Act 

should demonstrate not only a pattern of conduct but also some kind of mutual understanding, either 

express or implied.  Thus, prior behavior by itself, although similar to the acts in dispute, falls short of an 

‘established practice’”.  In Railway Labor Exec.s Ass’n. v. Norfolk & Western Ry. 833 F. 2d 700, (7th Cir. 

1987), the Seventh Circuit held that for there to be an implied agreement by past practice there must be a 

well established, mutually accepted, course of dealings between the parties as to the disputed action. Id. at 

705 n. 4. More recently, in Brotherhood of Locomotive Engineers v. Union Pacific R.R., 879 F. 3d 754 

(7th Cir. 2018), the Seventh Circuit stated: “Naked assertions of past practice are not enough. Nor may the 

railroad lie its way to arbitration”, there must be some evidence to support or refute the assertion that a 

practice has become an implied term of the parties’ agreement. Id. at 758. See also Brotherhood of 

Maintenance of Way Employees v. Chicago and North Western Transp. Co., 827 F 2d 330, 336 (8th Cir. 

1987) – a party asserting an implied contract term must show both a pattern of conduct and a mutual 

understanding and acquiescence in the prior acts or conduct; Brotherhood of Maintenance of Way 

Employees Division/IBT v. National Railroad Passenger Corp., 2016 WL 6783199  (D.D.C. 2016)–“the 
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only relevant past conduct by the parties is that ‘which has attained the dignity of a relationship 

understood by the parties as if part of the collective bargaining agreement’”. Id. at *6, citation omitted. If 

a carrier asserting contractual authority based on past practice does not make the requisite showing of 

union knowledge and acquiescence sufficient to show an implied agreement by established practice, the 

carrier’s assertion of arguable justification for its actions under the alleged practice must be rejected.  

BLET v. Springfield Terminal Ry., supra. 210 F. 3d 18; Brotherhood of Maintenance of Way Employees 

Lodge 16 v. Burlington Northern, supra. 802 F. 2d 1016, 1022.  

 Because a minor dispute finding can deprive a federal court of jurisdiction over a statutory claim, 

and the determination on the nature of the dispute depends on whether the carrier’s contractual defense is 

sincere and arguable under the terms of the agreement with the burden of proof on the carrier, a court 

required to classify a dispute must make an initial assessment of the merits of the defense. As the Conrail 

Court said, the courts must make their own classification of disputes because otherwise parties could 

“undercut ‘the prohibitions of §2, Seventh and §6 of the Act’ against unilateral imposition of new 

contractual terms”. 491 U.S. at 305-306. The Court therefore held that “[i]n such circumstances, 

protection of the proper functioning of the statutory scheme requires the court to substitute its 

characterization for that of the claimant”. Id. at 306. See Brotherhood of Maintenance of Way Employees 

v. Atchison Topeka & Santa Fe Ry., supra. 138 F. 3d at 642; BLET v. Union Pacific, 879 F. 3d at 757. 

 Accordingly, when confronted with a union’s assertion of a violation of Section 2 Seventh, and a 

carrier’s minor dispute defense, a court is not a mere conduit to arbitration; it is a gatekeeper, diverting 

cases to arbitration when the carrier makes the necessary showing, but adjudicating the merits of the 

statutory claim when the carrier does not. This assessment necessarily includes the factual context of the 

claim because a court cannot possibly decide whether the carrier’s contractual defense was arguably 

justified under the terms of the agreement, and cannot assess the arguability of a carrier’s interpretation of 

an agreement is at least arguable under the terms of the agreement and sincere if it does not make fact 

determinations. Thus, in Conrail, the Supreme Court examined the past practice regarding medical 

examinations before holding that a dispute over urinalysis drug testing was a minor dispute. 491 U.S. 
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312-316. And in Wheeling, 789 F. 3d at 692-694, the court reviewed both the language of the agreement 

and the parties’ evidence concerning bargaining history and past practice in finding a major dispute. See 

also Burlington Northern R.R. Co. v. United Transp. Union, 862 F. 2d 1266, 1272-1277 (7th Cir. 1988); 

United Transp. Union v. Dakota Minnesota & Eastern R.R. Corp., 506 F.  Supp 2d 296, 304 (D. S.D. 

2007)-- although carrier alleged its actions were justified by a past practice, “[o]n the record before it, the 

Court cannot conclude that this alleged past practice rises to the level of an implied agreement”; 

Brotherhood of Maintenance of Way Employees Division/IBT v. National Railroad Passenger Corp., 

supra.  2016 WL 6783199 at *7– “the court must address the threshold question of whether any implied 

CBA terms exist at all”.1 

 Given this role of the courts, carrier actions challenged as unilateral changes have been 

 held to involve major disputes when the courts found that the challenged actions conflicted with clear 

contract language, and when the actions were not even arguably justified by the agreement terms or past 

practices relied on by the carriers. See e.g. Wheeling, where the scope rule of the collective bargaining 

agreement required a conductor on every train, the railroad’s contention that the agreement arguably 

permitted conductor-less trains was “obviously insubstantial in light of the express language” of the scope 

rule, and notwithstanding the carrier’s assertion that assignment of work was “an issue of managerial 

prerogative” 789 F. 3d at 693;  Herrera v. Command Security Corp., 837 F. 3d 979, 989-991 (9th Cir. 

2016), where the carrier ceased dealing with the union and unilaterally altered health insurance benefits 

for its employees; Brotherhood of Locomotive Engineers v. Springfield Terminal, 210 F. 3d at 34–the 

carrier violated Section 2 Seventh by removing from employees work they had historically done under 

                                                           
1 See also Railway Labor Exec.s Ass’n v. Norfolk & Western Ry. Co. 833 F. 2d 700, 705-706 (7th 
Cir, 1987)– “The content of the parties’ agreement is a factual question”. BMWE v. Chicago and 
North Western, supra., 827 F. 2d at 334– “a court must first determine what the agreement of the 
parties is....On review, questions as to the content of the agreement of the parties are 
factual....”(citing Brotherhood of Maintenance of Way Employees Lodge 16 v. Burlington 
Northern R.R. Co., 802 F. 2d 1016, 1022 (8th Cir. 1986); and 827 F. 2d at 334 n. 4 and 5 
reviewing and resolving disputes as to the facts. 
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collective bargaining agreement;  Local 553 TWU v. Eastern Airlines, 695 F. 2d, 671, 676-678 (2d Cir. 

1983)– affirming a district court decision holding that the carrier’s plan to assign flight attendant work on 

a newly acquired route to employees not covered by the parties’ CBA involved a major dispute.  

B. THE NORRIS LAGUARDIA ACT  

 The NLGA was enacted to remove the federal courts from labor disputes except in specific 

circumstances, and then only in accordance with specific jurisdictional and procedural limitations.  

However, the NLGA does not "prevent a court from enjoining violations of a specific mandate of another 

labor statute" such as the RLA. Brotherhood of R.R. Trainmen v.  Chicago River and Indiana R.R. Co., 

353 U.S. 30, 40 (1957); Burlington Northern v.  BMWED, 481 U.S. 429, 437-440 445, 449 n. 14 (1987). 

 NLGA Section 7 (29 U.S.C. §107) governs the rules and procedures for consideration of 

injunctions in labor disputes. United Airlines v. Int’l Ass’n of Machinists and Aerospace Workers, 243 F. 

3d at 349, 362 and n. 9 (7th Cir. 2001); Delta Airlines v. Air Line Pilots Ass’n., 238 F. 3d 1300 (11th Cir. 

2001); Brady v.  v. National Football League, 644 F. 3d 661, 681 (8th Cir. 2011). To grant an injunction 

in a labor dispute, a court must find that “unlawful acts” “have been committed and will be continued 

unless restrained”, that substantial and irreparable injury to the plaintiff, for which there is no adequate 

remedy at law, will follow if the injunction is not issued. 29 U.S.C. §107.  However, as discussed above, 

the Supreme Court has held that when a carrier violates Section 2 Seventh by abrogating or unilaterally 

changing a collective bargaining agreement, thereby negating the status quo provisions of the Act, a court 

may issue a preliminary injunction without making a separate finding of irreparable harm.  

IV. ARGUMENT 

 The CBA covering Fleet Service employees only provides for drug testing in situations of 

reasonable suspicion and accidents. American’s drug and alcohol testing policy, which provides 

additional rules and procedures for drug testing, also only refers to situations of reasonable suspicion and 

accidents. And long standing practice under the CBA and American’s drug and alcohol testing policy is 

limited to testing in those situations; no CBA provision or practice prior to the implementation of the 

disputed program authorized drug testing of Fleet Service workers merely because their work involves 
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handling mail. Accordingly, American’s implementation of a program of drug testing Fleet Service 

workers without cause constitutes a unilateral change to, and effective modification of, the CBA. Simply 

put, no agreement between the parties, and no established practice recognized by both parties authorizes 

or provides for drug testing of Fleet Service employees other than when there is reasonable suspicion or 

an accident; American’s new program of drug testing Fleet Service employees in other situations 

constitutes a unilateral change in the parties’ agreement.  

 Because RLA Section 2 Seventh prohibits changes in agreements other than by agreement or in 

accordance with the notice and negotiation requirements of Section 6 (Conrail, 491 U.S. at 302-303; 

BLET v. Union Pacific, 879 F. 3d at 757), and American has violated the RLA by implementing a 

program of drug testing Fleet Service employees other than in circumstances of reasonable suspicion or 

accidents, an injunction is permissible under Section 7 of the NLGA.  Wheeling, 789 F. 3d at 693, 697; 

and Burlington Northern R.R. v. United Transp. Union, 862 F.2d 1266, 1282 (7th Cir. 1988). 

 Since American has claimed that it has contractual authority to implement the new drug testing 

program, TWU assumes that American will contend that the dispute is a “minor dispute”, and that there is 

no basis for issuance of a preliminary injunction. Such an argument would be insufficient for American to 

carry its burden of demonstrating the dispute to be minor under the Conrail test.  

 There is no arguable basis under the terms of the CBA for American to claim that it can 

drug test Fleet Service employees in the absence of reasonable suspicion or an accident.  Not only does 

the CBA refer to drug testing of employees who are not subject to DOT mandated random tests only in 

cases of reasonable suspicion and accidents, American’s own drug testing policy that has been in place 

for years, and that has been accepted by both parties, and is even referenced by Article 29 of the CBA, 

also refers only to drug testing of such employees in cases of reasonable suspicion and accidents. 

 A rule or practice that permits American to drug test employees for cause, only in accordance 

with specified procedures and with specified employee rights cannot even arguably be construed as 

supporting American’s claim that it can drug test employees who have given no cause for suspicion of 

drug use or been in an accident, and then to test them without compliance  
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with CBA and established Company policy regarding procedures and employee rights related to  

drug tests.   

 American has asserted that Federal law requires that Fleet Service employees submit to random 

drug testing. But no law or regulation supports that contention. American cites USPS forms and rules as 

requiring drug testing of anyone who handles the mail. But those forms and rules merely cite statutes that 

authorize the Postal Service to seek certification of drug testing from contractors and their employees; 

none of those rules and forms, and no statute, requires that Fleet Service workers submit to non-cause 

based drug testing. In this regard, the USPS is just a customer seeking certain commitments from 

American for a contract which the Carrier may choose to accept or reject. While the Company may want 

to contract with the Postal Service, its desire to obtain a certain business relationship does not override its 

commitments to TWU under the CBA. And while the USPS may condition its contracts on acceptance of 

random drug testing of employees who may handle mail, no law or regulation allows USPS contractual 

demands to override an RLA agreement. American’s desire to obtain or please a customer is not a basis 

for it to unilaterally change the CBA. Furthermore, there certainly could be no basis for American to 

claim that USPS requirements allow it to drug test employees who are not even involved in handling 

mail. 

 Additionally, the CBA and American’s own drug and alcohol testing policy that establishes 

procedures governing drug tests, and employee rights when being drug tested, have been completely 

ignored, and effectively negated, by American in implementing its new program of drug testing its Fleet 

Service employees. So, even if there was some basis in the CBA for American to drug test Fleet Service 

workers merely because they handle mail, under American’s new drug testing program, employees being 

tested are being denied union representation that is provided for in Article 29 of the CBA, and they are 

being denied the procedural rights and protections established under American’s drug and alcohol testing 

policy that is longstanding and established past practice. Perversely, under American’s new program, 

employees who have given no cause for suspicion of drug use, and not been in an accident, have fewer 

rights and protections than those who are drug tested for such cause. Consequently, even if the CBA 
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provided for drug testing other than in situations of reasonable suspicion and accidents, American’s 

implementation of a program of drug testing without affording affected workers the rights and protections 

afforded by Article 29 and American’s drug and alcohol testing policy constitutes a unilateral change to, 

and effective modification of, the CBA.   

 Accordingly, beyond abrogating the CBA, by implementing non-cause drug testing of Fleet 

Service employees, American has also unilaterally changed the CBA by implementing a drug testing 

program that does not comply with established drug testing procedures and employee rights.  

Furthermore, regardless of the validity of American’s claim that its contract with the Postal Service 

allows it to drug test Fleet Service employees who handle the mail, American has been drug testing Fleet 

Service employees who do not handle the mail, which is another unilateral change to the CBA.    

 Because American’s unilateral implementation of drug testing of Fleet Service employees 

violates RLA Section 2 Seventh and is therefore an unlawful act under NLGA Section 7, and because a 

court may enforce the status quo provisions of the RLA without an independent showing of irreparable 

harm, the Court may and should grant TWU’s motion for a preliminary injunction.2        

V. CONCLUSION  

 Based upon the foregoing, TWU respectfully submits that the Court should grant the Union’s 

motion for a preliminary injunction. 

  Respectfully submitted, 

     /s/ Terrance B. McGann                                         
     Terrance B. McGann (6199967)  
     Karen M. Rioux (6279378)  
     David Whitfield (6304284)  

                                                           
2  NLGA Section 7 does not provide for consideration of the public interest and the public 
interest is not a factor considered for injunctions in labor disputes because the improper use of 
public interest findings to enjoin union actions was one of the reasons for enactment of the 
NLGA. Burlington Northern v.  BMWED, 481 U.S. at 437-39; Int'l Ass'n of Machinists v. Street, 
376 U.S. 740, 772 (1961). Accordingly, public interest considerations are not relevant to 
consideration of BRS’s motion.  In any event, TWU submits that the public interest also includes 
the policies expressed in the RLA and NLGA. American’s actions in this case were violative of 
the RLA, so the public interest in this case lies in enforcement of these Federal laws.  
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 I hereby certify that I have this day caused copies of the foregoing Motion for a Preliminary  

Injunction, supporting Memorandum of Law and Declaration of Mike Mayes to be served upon the 

following counsel for the American Airlines Group listed below, electronically and  by UPS Overnight 

Delivery:  

Robert A. Siegel 
O’Melveny & Myers 
400 South Hope St. 
Los Angeles, CA  90071-2899 
rsiegel@omm.com 
 
James Edward Cummings 
Kaplan, Massamillo & Andrews, LLC 
200 W. Madison St., 16th Floor 
Chicago, IL  60606 
jcummings@kmalawfirm.com 
 
Larry S. Kaplan 
Kaplan, Massamillo & Andrews, LLC 
200 W. Madison St., 16th Floor 
Chicago, IL  60606 
lkaplan@kmalawfirm.com 
 

December 5, 2018       /s/ Terrance B. McGann                                                    
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